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Securities Corporation v. Borland, 103 Fla.
63, 137 So. 151; First Trust & Savings
Bank v. West Lake Investment Co., 105
Fla. 590, 141 Sc. 894; Palbicke v. Takami,
112 Fla. 629, 151 So. 287; Campbell v.
Pine Holding Co., 119 Fla. 793, 161 So.
726,

For the reasons stated, the order ap-
pealed from should be affirmed and it is
so ordered.

Affirmed.
- ELLIS, P, J.,, and TERRELL,; J., con-

cur,

WHITFIELD, C. ]J., and DAVIS, J,
concur in the opinion and judgment,
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1. Wills €230

Alleged agreement whereln will con-
testants allegedly reedgnlzed v_ra]idity of will
gsought to be probated held not to estop them
from thereafter seeking to probate later
will,

2. Courts €216

Circuit judge taking jurisdiction of witl
contest, upon dlsqualification of county
judge, acted in capacity of a circuit judge
and not of a substitute eounty judge; and
bence appeal from his decree lay to Supreme
Court and not to circuit court (Comp.Gem.
Laws-1927, § 5199).

-

3. Wills &=158

To suthorize dema! or revocation of
probate of will for undue influence, there
must be active use of such undue influence
for purpose of securing execution of will
to such an extent as to coerce mind of tes-
tator, so that testator was not acting vol-
untarily. : o
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4. Wills &=163(2)

Confidential relations between
during his lifetime and legatee offe
for probate are not alone sufficiend
presumption of undue influence
burden of proof upon proponent It
gard.

5. Wills €=2155(1)

“Undue influence,” justifying
revocation of probate of will, con
overpersuasion, coercion, or force
stroys or hampers free agency and

er of testator, but mere affection

ment, or desire to gratify wishes ¢
loved, respected, and trusted, may
self, amount to undue influence,
[Ed. Note.—For other definiti
“Undue Influence,” gee Words &
es.]

4 Wills &=155(1)
To constitute “undue Influenc

' fying denial or revocation of proba

testator’s mind must have been s

‘led or affectad by persuasion or

artful or fraudulent contrivances,

-fluences of persons in close confid

lations with him, that be is not I
intelligently, understandingly,
tarily, but subject to will or pu
another,

7. Wills €&=166(1)

That will may have been
through kindness and flattery ar
for testatrix was no evidence of “
fluence.” . :

8. Wills &=I155(1)
Policy of law is to hold w
wherever possible, especially wher:

ig an old person, reasonably easily

ed, and forgetful. _

‘9. Wills &=166([)

Evidence held Insufficlent to j
nisl of probate of will of elderly
on ground of undue Iinfluence o
legatees, -

10. Wills €&=21

Inquiry as to whether a tes
sesses testamentary capacity is d
time at which he made will.

11, Wills €=55(7) :
Testimony of will showmg :

"disposition of property, and of atix

drew it and subscribing witnesses
that elderly testatrix knew in ge

< 'pature and' kxtent of her estate
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lecte@ objects of her bounty with under-
standing of reasons for so doing, hkeld to
establish testamentary eapacity.

12. Appeal and error €112
Decree void for want of jurisdiction
will be reversed on appeal.

Appeal from Circuit Court, Polk County;
Harry G. Taylor, Judge.

Proceeding in the matter of the estate of
Clara R. Starr, deceased, by Rowland Hale
Starr and others to contest a will of Clara
R. Starr, deceased, the proponents thereof
being Bradiley C. Wilsen, as executor, ete,,
and others. From an order and decree of
the circuit court denying the probate of the
will, proponents appeal, and, from a de-
cree made by another circuit judge of the
.same circuit reversing the decree denying
the probate of the will and ordering that the
will be admitted to probate, contestants ap-
peal.

Decree which reversed prior decree and
ordered will admitted to probate reversed
because void for want of jurisdiction, and
decree denying probate of will also re-
versed, with directions.

Don Register, of Winter Haven, and
Vager, Behout & Stecher, of Toledo, Ohio,
for appellants,

Holland & Bevis, of Bartow,.and Sat-
terlee & Canfield, of New York Clty, for
appellees.

BROWN ]ustlce

Two appeals have been taken to this court-

involving the validity of the same last will
and testament, ohie being taken from an or-
der and decree of the circuit court for Polk
county, made by Circuit Judge Taylor,
denying the probate of a will made by Clara

R. Starr in 1924 on the ground that she.

did not possess sufficient mental capacity
at that time to execute a valid will, and the
other appeal, being taken from a decree
made by Circuit Judge Petteway of the
same circuit, reversing the decree which
had been. entered by Judge Taylor, and or-
deririg that the will be admitted to probate.

On October 11,1926, Bradley C. Wilson,
as executor,-filed 2 will of Clara R. Starr,
dated December 24, 1924, and- applied for
probate thereof in Polk county, Fla.

Starr, dated Februnary 13, 1911, was filed in

Lucas county, Ohio, and the pfobate court’

“Elev--
en days thereafter a will of the said ‘Clata

Fla. €21
of Lucas county, Ohio, took jurisdiction
thereof and probated said will.. This will
was admitted to record in Polk county, Fla.,
on April 22, 1930, and in June, 1930, an at-
tempt was made to probate the 1924 will in
Polk county, Fla., but the order entered on
June 6, 1930, for probate of the 1924 will
was void on account of the disqualification
of Judge Wiggins. Thus the only will of
the said Clara R. Starr that has ever been
admitted to probate was the 1911 will. This
suit is a contest between the QOhio executor
and the heirs of Clara R, Starr’s late hus-
band, Rowland Starr, claiming under the
will of 1911 admitted to probate in Ohio, and
Bradley C. Wilson, executor of the 1924
will, petitioner for probate, joined by C.
Duncan Bruce and wife, beneficiaries.

[1] Upon the disqualification of Judge
Wiggins, Hon. Harry G. Taylor, one of the
judges of the circuit court of Polk county,
Fla,, took jurisdiction of the entire matter
at the request of Judge Wiggins. Rowland
Hale Starr and two other heirs of Mrs.
Clara Starr’s husband, and the executor un-
der the 1911 will, contested the probate of
the 1924 will on the grounds of lack of tes-
tamentary capacity, undue influence, and a
previous alleged agreement on the part of
G. Duncan Bruce and wife which it was
claimed recognized the validity of the 1911
will, and- estopped them from seeking to
probate the 1924 will. The last ground of
contest was properly stricken by Judge Tay-
lor on motion of proponents. Schouler on

Wills {6th Ed) §§ 730, 743; Redfearn on
Wills, ete,, in Fla, 142, 143, .

After hearing the testlmony, Judge Tay-
lor entered an -order denying the probate
of the 1924 will, giving as his reason the
lack of testamentary capacity of Clara Rf'
Starr. .

[2] The proponents- appellees, bemn' -
certain as to the capacity in which’ ]udge'
Taylor was functioning, filed two'appeals”
from this decision or order of Judge Tay-
lor’s; one was direct to the Supreme Court -
upon the assumption that the procedire be-
fore Judge Taylor and Judge Taylor's de-
cision were in the circuit court (which was
correct); the other appeal was taken from
Judge Taylor’s decision to the cireuit court
of Polk county, Fla., on the assumption that’
Judge Taylor was sitting as a “substitute '
county judge and that the proceedings be-
fore him were in the court of the county’
judge. This assumption was probably due
to the phraseology sed in the court or-
ders. Judge Petteway of the circuit court,
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who expressed some reluctance to review
the action of his brother circuit judge aft-
er carcfully reviewing and analyzing the
testimony and applicable authorities, re-
versed the judgment which had been ren-
dered by Judge Taylor. Although this ap-
peal to the circuit court was mistakenly
taken, Judge Petteway’s opinion and com-
clusions on the testimony are in accordance
with our own views of the case tried be-
fore Judge Taylor.

Section 5199, C.G.L. of 1927, says: “The
judge of the circuit court, in case of the
disqualification, absence, sickness or other
disability of a county judge, is authorized
to discharge all the duties appertaining to
said judge in regard to the probate of wills,
granting letters testamentary and letters of
administration, appointing curators and
guardians, and making all necessary orders
in regard to the custody, preservation or
sale of the estates of deceased persons.”

In State v, Horne, 86 Fla. 309, 98 So. 330,
331, this court, speaking through the pres-
ent Chief Justice, said: “Section 17, art. §
of the Constitution does not give to the
county judge exclusive jurisdiction ‘of the
settlement of the estates of decedents,’ etc,,
and section 11, art. 5§, gives the circuit
courts stated elements of jurisdiction and
also jurisdiction ‘of such other matters as
the Legislature may provide” This is am-
ple authority for the quoted statute; and it
is not affected by the provision of section
11 that circuit courts shall have ‘supervision
and appellate jurisdiction of matters aris-
ing before county judges pertaining to their
probate jurisdiction,’” etc. _

Judge Taylor tock jurisdiction pursuant
to the above-quoted section of the Compiled
General Laws, and was acting in the ca-
pacity of circuit judge when he took juris-
diction of the cause, instead of as a sub-
stitute county judge; therefore the appeal
to the circuit.court, acted upon by Judge
Petteway as circuit judge, was unauthor-
ized and conferred no jurisdiction, and the
judgment rendered thereon was void and of
no effect. Thus the effective appeal here is
the one taken to this court from Circuit
Judge Taylor’s decision. See, also, Schaef-
er v. Voyle, 88 Fla. 170, 102 So. 7. Al
these proceedings in the lower court took
place before the adoption of section 52 of
the Probate Act of 1933 (Acts 1933, &
16103).

In the 1911 will Clara R. Starr left the
bulk of her estate to her husband, Rowland
Starr, and his heirs, and to her father and
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brother. By 1921 the husband, :
brother were dead, and she made
The new will of 1921 made a fev
quests, such as $2,000 each to th
her church (as pastor), to Board
tant cousin and her only living -
tion, and to Clarence Griffin, a ne
feur, and the bulk of her estate
divided equally between Dr, Simc
Mr. G. Du‘ncan Bruce.

ither, and
new will.
smali be-
pastor of
wan, a dis-
lood rela-
‘ro chauf-
wvas to be
wdson and

physician
‘her, who
wears that

lifetime
hese peo-
:ured the
iter Hav-
1 him re-

Dr. Simondson was the family
and took care of Mrs. Start’s £
lived with the Starrs. It also ay
Mr. Rowland Starr duting hi
needed care and attention, and
ple, being quite wealthy, had s
services of Dr. Simondson of W
en, Fla., for that purpose, and k
siding in their home in Winter ! aven vir-
tually as a member of the famil . It also
appears from the undisputed fa ts in the
record that said G. Duncan Br ce was a
very close personal friend of the - wmily and
business associate of Rowland S arr; that
Clara R.- Starr and her husband Rowland
Starr, were both very fond of Mr and Mrs.
Bruce and their little daughter, 1e Starrs
having had no children of their. wn.

Mrs. Starr had depended gre .tly upon
her hushand, especially in busi ess mat-
ters, and at the death of her b wband in
1911 it appears from the evid nce that,
though a very intelligent and cv tured old
lady, she knew practically nothing about the
management of business affairs, : 1d conse-
quently she asked Mr. Bruce, a: intimate
friend of long standing, to atte d to her
business for her and relieve her o that bur-
den, and she wanted the doctor t continue
on in her home as physician and nanaging
head-of the household for the ren ainder of
her life, which necessitated his complete
abandonment of public practice ¢ 1ring her
lifetime. Obviously Dr, Simonc on could
not enter into such an agreemer : without
adequate provision for compens: :ing him,
nor could Mr. Bruce; and so be ween the
three of them, Simondson, Bruce, and Mrs.
Starr, it was agreed that they - ould un-
dertake to do what she wanted tt :m to do,
provided she would make them j -int heirs
of her estate at her death, and the e was no
other compensation provided i them.
This was a perfectly normal agre ment un-.
der the circumstances, and a sery ad-
vantageous one for Mrs. Starr, * ecause it
enabled her to enjoy her compl te estate
during her lifetime without havi g to re-
duce her enjoyment of the estat by hav—
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ing to pay physician’s or management fees
to'Dr. Simondson and Mr. Bruce, and, since
she had enly one distant relative, and Dr.
Simondson and the Bruces were her best
friends, she would naturally want them to
have a large share of her estgte at her death
in any event. Mrs. Starr executed a will
in accordance with this understanding in
1921. As it was, both parties lived up to
their agreement until March, 1926, at which
time there seems to have been a falling out
between the doctor and Mrs. Starr, and a
settlement was negotiated in which he was
paid some $27,000, in addition to $15,000
already paid by the gift of an orange grove,
in lieu of any rights he might have against
the estate of Clara R. Starr under her will,
which had meanwhile been rewritten in
1924, Tt appears that Bruce continued to
carry out his part of the agreement until
the death of Clara R. Starr. .

On the 24th day of December, 1924, Clara
R. Starr went to the office of her attorney,
Bradley C. Wilson, and executed another
will, which will contained substantially the
same provisions as the 1921 will, except
that it cut the bequest to Dr. Simondson to
$10,000 cash, and the residue of the estate,
excepting the other legacies, to go to G.
Duncan Bruce; and she fixed the compen-
sation of her attorney, as executor, at $5,-
000, which was not unreasonable in view of
what his statutory compensation would
have been.

The main questions invelved in this cause
are whether or not the judge in the court
below erred in finding that Clara R. Starr
did not have mental capacity to make a will
when she executed the 1924 will, and, sec-
ond, whether or not, in the event that she
did have such mental capacity and the court
below was in error in deciding to the con-
trary, is the disposition of her estate under.
this - will the result of undue influence
brought to bear upon the said Clara R. Starr
to execute it, so that it was not her own
free act and deed?

The trial court necessarily .did not deal
with the question of undue influénce, be-
cause he decided that Clara R. Starr did
not have the mental capacity to execute the
will.

[3,4] To authorize a couit to deny or
tevoke the probate of a will on the ground
of undue influence, there must be active
use of such undue influence for the purpose
of securing the execution of the will to such
an extent as to coerce the mind of the tes-
tator, so that it cannot be said that the testa-
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tor was acting voluntarily, of his or her
own free will and volition. Confidential re-
lations between the testator.in his lifetime
and the legatee who offers the will for pro-
bate are not alone sufficient to raise a pre-
sumption .of .undue influence and cast the
burden of proof upon the proponent in that -
regard. Bancroft v. Otis, 91 Ala, 279 8
So. 286, 24 Am.St.Rep. 904,

[5] In the case of Newman v. Smith, 77
Fla. 633, 667, 668, 82 So. 236, 246, this
court stated: “Undue influence compre-
hends over persuasion, coercion, or force
that destroys or hampers the free agency
and will power of the testator. Mere af-
fection or attachment, or a desire to gratify
the wishes of one beloved, respected, and
trusted, may not, of itself, amount to un- -
due influence affecting the testamentary ca-
pacity of a testator.”

[6] In Peacock v. DuBois, 90 Fla, 162,
105 So. 321: “To constitute “‘undue influ-
ence, the mind * * * must be so con-
trolled or affected by persuasion or pres-
sure, artful, or fraudulent contrivances, or
by the insidious influences of persons in.
close confidential relations with him, that
he is not left to act intelligently, under-
standingly, and voluntarily, but * * *
subject to the will or purposes of another.
LI S '

“The rule seems to be well settled that
undue influence justifying the setting aside
of will, deed, or other contract must be
such as to dethrone the free agency of the
person making it and rendering his act the
product of the will of another instead of
his own.”

One of the first thmgs to consider is the
naturalness or reasotiableness of the provi-
sions of the will. Here was a rather help-
less, but very intelligent, old lady, natural-
1y retiring, having led a sheltered life, with
little or no business ability or experience.
Her devoted husband, upon whem she had
leaned for years, had but very recently de-
parted this life. She had no relatives save
a distant cousin, in whom she was not inter-
ested and who had no claim upon her. Her
husband’s relatives had been amply -and
well provided for by her husband in his will.

. She was very fond of the Bruces and Dr.

Simondson, and, besides, the doctor stayed
on as a member of the household and took
all of the responsihilities from her shoulders
so far as bethering with the household and
the making of traveling arrangements were
concerned, and also cared for her as a phy-
sician and friend. Also realizing that she
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did not have business experience and had
a large estate, she wanted a capable man
whom she could trust to take over the com-
plete handling of the estate and look after
her property. She especially told Mr. Wil-
son, the attorney, to put in the will these
reasons as her reasons for thus disposing
of her property.

We agree with the opinion of Judge Pet-
teway that there is no sign of undue influ-
ence or anything unnatural in this will.
No beneficiary was present when she made
it.  She flatly refused to cut the negro
chauffeur’s $2,000 bequest te $1,000 as urged
by her counsel, showing that she knew who
she wanted to favor and just how much she
wanted them to have. She could be easily
persuaded to do things that made no mate-
rial difference to her, but she had a mind
of her own as to matters that she was inter-
ested in or deemed of importance, and even
in small matters that affected her personally.
Thus no one could persuade her to leave
off her mourning apparel nor could her
nurses persuade her to change the type of
her undergarments. She had definite ideas
on what she really wanted and obtained
them. A number of her letters, which were
introduced in evidence, show this. They
also show that she was a lady of more than
ordinary rcfinement and education.

Bradley Wilson, the attorney who drew
the will in question, testified that Mrs. Clara
Starr came to his office by appointment,
made the day before, accompanied only by
her nurse, and gave him the details con-
tained in the will herself, unaided. The
nurse took no part in the conversation,
We cannot conceive that a reputable, ethi-
cal, and truthful as well as competent at-
torney, which, as stated by Judge Taylor in
his written opinien, Mr. Wilson was, would
be a party to the execution of a will under
such circumstances that it would be execut-
ed under or through undue influence. The
only difference between the 1921 will and
the 1924 will is the change in the bequests
to Dr. Simondson and Mr. Bruce. If the
1921 will had been induced by undue in-
fluence, it would be stretching inferences
too far to say that it carried over for the
three years elapsing between the two wills,

Joe TRiegel, one of the contestants, a
nephew of Mrs. Starr’s deccased husband,
was staying at the Starr residence, as was
Dr. Simondson, whose bequest was lowered
at the time that the change was made in
1924, and they would have had far greater
opportunity to exercise undue influence on
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Mrs. Starr than did Mr. Bruce, who, while
a frequent visitor, did not live in the Starr
home. There is no evidence that Mr. Bruce
suggested or had anything whatever to do
with the making of this new will, or any one
else, for that matter,

[7] It is probable that the valuable serv-
ices, kindness, and consideration of Bruce
and the doctor had a great deal to do with
Mrs. Starr’s selection of her chief bene-
ficiaries, but the fact that a will was induced
through kindness and flattery and caring
for a person is no evidence of undue influ-.
ence. White v. Starr, 47 N.J.Eq. 244, 20
A: 875; Den v. Gibbons, 22 N.J.Law, 117,
51 Am.Dee. 253; In re Eddy’s Will, 32
N.J.Eq. 701; Collins v. Osborn, 34 N.J.Eq.
511; Brick v, Brick, 43 N.J.Eq. 167, 10 A.
869, on appeal, Id, 44 N.J.Eq. 282, 18 A.
58; Wheeler v. Whipple, 44 N.J.Iq. 141,
14 A. 275, on appeal, 1d., 45 N.J.Eq. 367, 19
A, 621; Elkinton v. Brick, 44 N.J.Eq. 154,
15 A. 391, 1 L.R.A. 161; In re Humphrey's
Will, 26 N.J.Eq. 513, sub nomine Jenkins v.
Moore, 27 N.J.Eq. 567,

[81 It is the policy of the law to hold
wills good wherever it can be done. This,
according to the authorities, is particularly
true of old people. They are no doubt, gen-
erally speaking, reasonably easily influenced
and are generally childish and forgetful,
and possibly, from the layman’s viewpoint,
not qualified to make a will. But the only
weapon these old people have to enforce
consideration and good treatment of them-
selves, and proper care, is the power to dis-
pose of their estate by will,

It has been said that old people, general-
ly speaking, usually fall inte two classes:
those that become critical and disagreeable
or contrary and stubborn, and those who
secm to mellow with age and are very con-
siderate and agreeable, The testatrix very
happily falls in the latter class, and was
very agreeable, but she had a mind of her
own and knew what she wanted,

[9] Taking into consideration the policy
of the law, we are forced to the conclusion
that there 1s not a sufficient showing in the
recard of this case to support the allegation
of contestants that there was undue influ-
ence practiced on the testatrix,

This brings us to what is perhaps the real-
ly contested question in this cause, and the
peint on which the court below based its
order deciding that the 1924 will of Clara
R. Starr was not a valid will.
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After diligently searching the record,
carefully reading the testimony and exhib-
its, and giving due weight to the decision of
the learned trial judge who actually heard
the testimony, we fail to find sufficient evi-
dence to sustain the holding of the court be-
low that, at the time the will was made,
Mrs. Statr was without sufficient mental
capacity to make a will.

[10]  The question is, Did she have legal-
ly sufficient mental capacity at the time she
made the will? It is in this respect that we
think the trial judge misapprehended the
legal effect of the evidence,

[117 In regard to the state of the tes-
tatrix’s mind at the time of making the will
in question, we will comment briefly upon
the voluminous testimony of some of the
more important witnesses, The testimony
comprises some 350 pages of the record.

A Dr. Clarke, of Toledo, formerly physi-
cian for Mr. Rowland Starr, later physician
of one of the contestants, testified for the
contestants. The memory of this witness,
as Judge Petteway observed in his opinion,
seems about as bad as that of the deceased.
While he had known Mrs. Starr for years,
his testimony relates mainly to a short stay
with Mrs. Starr in Toledo, Ohio, -in 1921
and a short visit he made with Mrs. Starr
at Winter Haven, in 1921, then a short pe-
riod in June and August of 1922, ending
Aungust 9, 1922, nearly two and a half years
before the will in question was executed
in December 1924, He did not see her
again until May 11, 1926, one and a half
years aftei the execution of the said will
and just prior to the time of her death, and
at the time she was apparently under the
influence of her nurse companion Mrs.
Kopp. The doctor tries to show that she
was the same throughout those intervening
years; that she was suffering from senile
dementia ; that her memory was gone; that
she was unable to take care of herself; but,
when pinned down to facts, the docter’s
testimony was sadly ]a.(;king in any concrete
facts to sustain his: opinion. He seemed
anxious to pronounce her mentaIly abnor-
mal, or at least feeb}e-mmded -Her letters
alone refute this. Mrs. Clarke's testimony
gorroborated that of her husband to some
extent,. especially as to -Mrs. Starr’s mem-
ory being bad and that she was inore or less
helpless.

Miss Madden, former nurse companion
of Mrs. Starr, who was with her in 1920-22,
testified that they played bridge but that
Mrs. Starr’s memory was bad and that Mrs.

170 80.—40

.

Fla.

N

Starr could not remember what she had
done the day before. She did testify, how-
ever, that Mrs. Starr remembered who to
send Christmas gifts to and who was enti-
tled to them.

* Mrs. Louise McCormick Boling, nurse
companion in 1922-23, testified that Mrs.
Starr did not have the mind of a child, but
that she was mentally deficient and unable
to look after herself, and that she could not
remember things.

Miss Vay Duyne, nurse companion,
April-September of 1923. She testified that
Mrs. Starr’s mental condition was not clear,
and that her mind was not alert, but, in con-
tradiction to the other nurse's testimony,
she states that Mrs. Starr did recognize
neighbors and friends. She also testified
that Mrs. Starr did many of the things that
the other nurses said that she could not do.

There is considerable conflict in the tes-
timony of the three nurses as to what Mrs.
Starr did and did net do and could and
could not do, viz., that she could not manage
her household affairs; that she could not
carry on a conversation; that she could not
dress herself; that she had no memory of |
her own; that she could not play bridge;
that she could not write letters; but, when
pinned down to facts, these opinions in
cach case are bdsed on the fact that Mrs,
Starr did not do some of these things for
herself, and yet these witnesses testify that
they were -not hired only as nutse com-
panions, but to run the household as a
daughter would. Other testimony shows
that she did play bridge, though riot very
well, that she conversed with intelligence,
and there are letters in the record, written
by Mrs. Starr herself, which show that
this testatrix not only knew what she want-
ed, but how to get it, and that she did not
want to be bothered with the very: things
that .she did not do, and that some of the
nurses thought that she could not do.

‘Mrs. Starr wrote to Dr. Simondson fully
before 'Miss Boling was hired;  that she -
was going to get another nurse and that
she was going to let the pne she had go;but
that the one she had did not know it yet,
and that she would not let her know tintil
she came back off hér trip; that after her
return she would give her plenty of time or
notice hefore letting her go, so as to be
fair with her. This shows not only shrewd-
ness and intelligence, but a disposition to
take care of herself and at the same time to
be fair to another. Her letters stated that
Miss McCormick, the prospective nurse,
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was not only to be nurse, but was to manage
the household affairs. She apparently did
not want to be bothered with such things
and wished to have plenty of time to her-
self. Dr. Simondson testified that Mrs.
Starr was rather indolent, or -what one
might call plain “lazy.”

Two other witnesses for contestants,
neighbors, Mrs. Plaisted and Mrs, Caffee,
testified. The testimony of Mrs, Plaisted,
such as it is, is about like that of some of
the other witnesses for coutestants; her
memory seems to have been rather bad
about the matter; but it apparently must
have covered a period of time just after
the death of Mr. Starr in 1921, and she does
not appear to have had occasion to have
closely, observed Mrs. Starr during any-
where the period of the execution of the
will.

Mrs, Caffee, who seems to have been the
wife of a former family physician of the
Starrs, in her testimony touches somewhat
on the period during which the will was
executed, but she herself says she did not
see Mrs, Starr very often in 1924-1925 or
- 1926, “probably not more- than three or

four times in that period.” Later on, she
says she thinks she saw her as much as
two or three times a year. She gave as her
opinion that Mrs. Starr was mentally im-
paired before Mr, Starr’s death and worse
thercafter. The sum and substance of her
factual testimony was that Mrs. Starr had
a bad memory. :

Mrs. Perrin, a beneficiary under the 1911
will and a contestant in this case, testified
to a period in 1921, shortly after the death
of Mr. Starr and three years prior to the
1924 will. Her testimony is about the usual
routine of other witnesses for contestants,
but does not cover a period anywhere near
the time of the execution of the will,

A Mrs. Jones, testifying for the contest-
ants, testified that she called on Mrs. Starr
in 1924 or 1925 asking for money for the
church and that Mrs. Starr did not say
much. We can sum the testimony of this
witness up in her own expression: “She did
not seem to pay much attention to what we
were saying ; that was the only thing I no-
ticed about her.” Mrs. Starr did not con-
tribute. This does not show lack of mental
capacity. It might show selfishness, in-
dolence, but not lack of mental capacity to
understand what she owned and what she
wanted to do with it. :

Witness Leslie B. Anderson, testifying
for contestants, was one of the few witness-
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es who had occasion to observe M s. Starr
from time to time, about the time that the
will was made in 1924, seeing I« * at the
bank where she apparently carrie on her
banking business, and, according ¢+ our un-
derstanding of what the mental ondition
of an old person had to be to rend¢ - her in-
competent to make a will, the test nony of
Mr. Anderson, testifying for the contest-
ants, established the mind of M s. Starr
to have been such as to have le ally en-
titled Her to make a will, though : is true
that Mr. Anderson testified that M 's. Starr
was an old lady and her memory v 15 poor;
that it was hard for her to reme iber her
transactions and what she would do with
any particular property or money.1 iless she
had assistance in doing so, and hat Mr.
Bruce was apparently her financial advisor;
that she had an account at the bz k; that
she signed her own checks and ‘hat she
probably asked him from time to time re-
garding one or two matters, secur ties, etc.
He further testified that she and I r assist-
ant may have often asked about a check
and for information of a divide d to be
collected, or with reference to ce tain pa-
pers or sccurities and for Mr. A derson’s
advice in the handling of same, nd that,
when he was in conversation witl her, her
conversation was intelligent and that he
noticed nothing abnormal at all a -out her,
and that “she talked with you ji1 st as an
intelligent and reasonable persor would,”
and that she talked to him “just like any
childish old lady and talked to me bout her
affairs as a son.” Mr. Anderson s ited that
she was a nice old lady with no business
training, and that she was just lik any one
else would be, situated as she - as. He
considered her in her right mind. This tes-
timony does not show that she w s legally
mentally incompetent to make a will, but
rather it establishes her competenc to make
a will.

Another witness for the contes
had an opportunity to observe h
time of making the will was Josef
gel, a nephew of Mr, Starr and ¢
contestants. He was visiting M
at her home in Winter Haven, at
she made the will in question.
that he was very charmingly tre
Mrs, Starr knew him, and that
with her frequently. There it
whatever to indicate any sufficies
‘mental capacity on the part of §
to make a will, and he never ques'
right to make a will, although he
made it. Ie stated that he pla

wnts who
r at the
t S. Rie-
1e of the
5. Starr
the time
testified
ted, that
1e drove
nothing
;'lack of
ts. Starr
oned her
mew shé
ed cards
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with his aunt, who played a very poor hand
and had to be considerably coached and
helped, but that she enjoyed it; that he
conversed with her; that the best way to
divert her mind was by simple little things
likce the birds and things around the grounds
and house, and that seeing such little things
while driving would give her pleasure; that
he talked with her about many things that
required the use of her memory; that she
remembered things in her early life quite
well; that it was the things that happened
about the time that she lost her father and
hushand that were difficult for her to re-
member,

The only conclusion one could reach from
his testimony is that his Aunt Clara had a
poor memory, especially for recent events,
which is nothing unusual with elderly peo-
ple, and that Mrs, Kopp and Dr. Simond-
son managed the household.

Mr. Wilson's testimony is unquestioned,
and is corroborated by the subscribing wit-
nesses, to the effect that Mrs. Starr came to
his office, accompanied by her nurse, of her
own free will and voliHon so far as he
knew, and clearly explained to him just
what disposition she wanted to make of her
property, and she herself gave him all the
details contained in the will.. Mrs. Starr
especially asked him to state in the will
that, because she had given Dr. Simondson
a $15,000 grove and numerous gifts and
trips, she wanted his bequest cut to $10,000
and the residue to go to Mr. Bruce, and that
the reason that she was leaving it to these
two men was because she did not have any
near relatives; that the only relative she
had was a distant cousin to whom she want-
ed to leave $2,000. She. stated that the
Starr heirs, contestants, were well provided
for in Mr, Starr’s will, that Bruce had been
her dearest friend, and that, if any one was
entitled to the estate, it was “Duncan.” Mz,
Wilson and Mrs. Starr came to an agree-
ment as to his salary or compensation as
executor, It further appears that he could
not make her change the $2,000 bequest to
the colored chauffeur.

Mr. Wilson testified that Mrs, Starr was
in every way mentally capable of making
her will, and the subscribing witnesses cor-
roborated his testimony.

Judge Taylor's comment on Mr. Wilson's
testimony in his written opinion was as fol-
lows: : iy ¥ :

- “And having carefully considered the tes-
timony of Mr. Bradley C. Wilson, who pre~
pared the said Last Will and Testament, as

Fla. 627

to the circumstances of its preparation, and
his acquaintance with and observation of
said Clara R. Starr; and knowing said
Bradley C. Wilson to be of unquestioned in-
tegrity .and highly ethical in his practice,
the Court accepts such testimony as the
honest and conscientious opinion of said
attorney as to the testamentary capacity of
said testatrix, fully believing in his good
faith and truthfulness; but in view of all
the testimony and evidence the Court be-
lieves said attorney to have beén deceived
as to the testamentary capacity of said tes-
tatrix, it appearing from such testimony
that his acquaintance with and observa-
tion of her was very limited.”

It will be noted that Judge Taylor did not
question the accuracy of Mr. Wilson's tes-
timony as to the facts, but merely his opin-
ion of Mrs. Starr’s mental capacity based
on those facts. Now, as we see it, if the -
facts testified to by Mr, Wilson be true, his
testimony as to Mrs, Start’s mental con-
dition and testamentary capacity is bound to
be true. His recital of what*took place in
her conference with him and the reasons
she gave for making the will which she did
make at the time show that, when she
made the will, she knew perfectly well
what she was doing, and had good reasons
for doing it. The only conclusion that we
can reach is that at that time, at least, Mrs.
Starr was a sane, well-balanced and reason-
able person, and that her testamentary ca-
pacity was well proven,

Mr. Starr, in‘his will, made Mrs. Starr
one of the trustees of the large estate and
frust fund he created by his will, and she
signed papers, etc., pertaining to the trus-
teeship during the time here in question.

The nurses testified ‘that she paid cash
for her groceries and that they helped to
see that she received the proper change.
They were at least inaccurate in this re-
spect, for, according to the testimony of
her grocer and his clerk, she never paid
cash for her groceries. The books of the
groceryman, Runkle, covering a part of the
period, corroborated his testimony. The
nurses further testified that they controlled
the shopping, whereas the groceryman and
his clerks testified that Mrs. Starr selected
the items other than the list of staples sent
by the cock, and that she was very close with
her money and would never buy at the first
of the season such things as strawberries and
the like, but would wait until the price came
down. Contestant’s witnesses testify that
she carried her own money and that she
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never misplaced her purse; that she had
business conferences with Mr. Bruce, etc.
All this testimony shows that in things that
© she was interested in she was very capable
or mentally normal, and that is what we have
to consider. Several of those with whom
she had ordinary business dealings state that
she was a kindly, admirable old lady, per-
fectly normal mentally. The attorney who
drew the will and the attesting witnesses
testify that she was perfectly normal, and
the doctor that was constantly with her and
took care of her (Dr. Simondson) states
absolutely that she was in normal condition
mentally. And the will itself is a natural
disposition of the property under the cir
cumstances. . . .

Dr. Simondson states absolutely that she
was clothed with a sound mind; that she
enjoyed very good health except for a mild
case of diabetes controllable by diet; that
she would converse intelligently; that she
knew her mind; that she was absolutely
rational and competent to discuss anything
which interested her, Who better would
know her condition than the doctor who
waited upon her constantly during the time
in question and thereafter? :

Dr. Crump, a Winter Haven physician
and a member of the state hoard of medical
examiners, who saw her frequently -when
she was occupying her winter home, testi-
fied that she was normal mentally.

Miss Simondson, a sister of Dr.- Simond-
son, went abroad with Mrs. Starr in 1923
and states that she was mentally fit.

G. V. Juhlet, one time American vice

consul to Copenhagen, Denmark, testified
that he had dinner with her about once a
week in the .summer of 1923, that they
played bridge, and that she was absolutely
" attentive and a gracious hostess, and was
perfectly normal mentally,

She traveled extensively nearly every
year. during the five years that she lived
after her husband’s death—-to South Amer-
ica, to Europe, to Alaska, also to California,
accompanied by Dr. Simondson and a nurse
or lady companion, and made trips between
QOhio and Florida during the time in ques-
‘tion; visited and was visited; attended
dinners and gave dinners, which shows that
she had a normal taste; and the dinners
and visits show that her company was en-
joyed by others.

In Fernstrom et al. v. Taylor, 107
490, 145 So. 208, 210, this court said: “The
general - sanity, mental -alertness, shrewd-

Fla.
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ness, capacity and business abilit
testatrix over the period for ma
leading up to the making of her
testified to by almost a score of 1
including her persomal attorney,
bankers, servants. * * * Nob
of testimony could have been f§
which to predicate sanity.”

In the case of Kerr v. Lunsfor
Va. 659, 8 S.E. 493, 2 L.R.A. 668,
Virginia court held that the phy:
tending the testator is entitled
weight; also the evidence of witne
were present at the execution of t
entitled to peculiar weight. The
McCracken v, McCracken et al,, I{
219 P. 196, follows in line, and }
Justice Lord in Clark’s Heirs v. E
128, states: “The point of time,
be considered at which the capaci
testator is to be tested, is the time
will was executed. This is the :
epoch,” Judge Washington says:
idence of the attesting witnesses,
to them, of those who were prese
execution, all other things being ¢
most to be relied upon.” In the in:
twa doctors testified that she was
normal; one of the doctors was
ular physician and companion. F
ney.and the attesting witnesses al
she was perfectly normal. Her ba
said that, though. somewhat chi
doty, she was normal for a wom:
age. _

In Gardiner v, Goertner, 110 Fl:
So. 186, 189; Hamilton et al. v.
93 Fla. 311, 112 So. 80, and T
Stokes, 107 Fla. 607, 145 So. 85!
668, this court makes clear  tha
pacity of the testator at the’tin
execution of the will is the qu
volved. In Gardiner v. Goertn
cited, it was said: “A ‘sound mir
plied to the execution of a will
hends ability of the testator to me
derstand in a general way the m
extent of the property to be dispos
the testator’s relation to those w
naturally claim a substantial ber
the will, as well as a general unde
of the practical effect of the wil
cuted.”

In Taylor -v. Kelly, 31 Ala. 5¢
Dec. 150: “That the testatrix shc
a valid will, it was not necessary
memory should be perfect, and-
unimpaired. If she had memory
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enough to recollect the property she was
about to bequeath, and the persons to whom
ghe wished to will it, and the manner in
which she wished it to be disposed of, and
to know and understand the business she
was engaged in,—she had, in contempla-
tion of law, a sound mind; and her great
age, bodily infirmity, and impaired mind,
would not vitiate a will made by one pos-
sessing such capacity”—citing Harrison v.
Rowan, 3 Wash.C.C. 585, Fed.Cas. No.
6141; 1 Jarman on Wills 50; Coleman v,
Robertsons Ex'rs, 17 Ala. 84 and other
aathorities.

In the case of White v. Starr et a.l 47
‘N.J.Eq. 244, 20 A. 875, witnesses testlﬁed to
‘many eccentricities and lapses of memory
on the part of the testator, making a much
stronger case than the contestants here have
produced, but the New Jersey court found
that he was mentally capab]e of making a
will,

In this case, the provisions of the will it-’

-self, considered in connection with the
statements made by Mrs, Starr to the attor-

ney at the time, and the recitals therein, all

of which the attorney tells us were her own
statements, provisions, and suggestions, are

wholly inconsistent with lack of sufficient

mentality to make a legal will. They show
she knew she had no near relatives; that
-she wished she had; that she knew of her

husband’s relatives (the contestants), but

felt he had amply provided for them; that

the two chief beneficiaries were her besi

friends and locked after her, ahd she want-
-ed them to have her estate; that, whereas
originally they were to share equally, she
‘had done so much for Dr. Simondsen she

thought he should be satisfied with $10,000,

.and leave the remainder to Bruce; anid’that

showing incidentally 'that’ she' had
idea of the generdl nature of her
She remembered her tegro’chauffenqr!
$2,000 and her chutch with a like s’
remembered ! her | distant! #dusin,i he
blood relation; with $2, 000 ; and sh
have had in mind as to Dri $1mondson that,
as he was to live with her the rest of ‘her
Tlife, she would have to spend large sums
<caring for him and taking him with her
over the world in her travels, These facts
show that she realized sufficiently the

i jties.”

amount 6f her estate, because she left the
various $2,000 bequests and the $10,000 be-
quest, and still understood that this left by
far the bulk of her estate to go to Bruce.
Clearly, the testimony of the will itself and
the attorney who drew it and the subscrib-
ing witnesses who corroborated his testi-
mony show that Clara R. Starr knew in a
general way the nature and extent of her
estate, and comprehended the relations ex-
isting ‘between her and those who would
naturally expect to benefit under the will,
and selected the objects of her bounty with
full understanding of .her reasons for so
doing, and fully realized the practlcal ef-
fect of the will she was making. That is all
the mentality required, .

In 28 R.C.L. 94, 95, it is said:

“Mere old age, physical weakness and in-
firmity or disease or even extreme distress
and debility of the body, are not necessarily
inconsistent with testamentary capacity, but
such facts are admissible in evidence to aid
the jury in determining whether or not the
testator had sufficient testamentary capacity
at the time of making his will.  The circum-
stances that a testator, at the time of ex-
ecuting. his will, is suffering from acute
pain or is on his death bed does not take
away his testamentary capacity. A per-
son who is blind may make a will, as may
one who is deaf and dumb. Where a tes-
tator’s sickness is wholly physical, proof
of his condition as to lethargy, suffering,
or unconsciousness on days preceding or
following the execution of the will is en |
titled to very little consideration. The pow-
ers of the mind may be weakened and im-
paired by old age and bodily disease without
destroying testamentary capacity, and mere

.mental wéakness, not due. to mental dlsea.se
-she wanted a definite understandmg of the -
executor’s total costs, and’ suggeste the’
limitation'to $5,000; instead ' of leavifig it
uncertain under the statite, evidently figur-
ing that the’ 6'per cent, charge might' run’it’
into many thousands’ more than ‘§5, 000

but so}ely to physical mﬁrm1ty, ‘daes not con-

 gtitute mental unsoundness, and the courts
- will scrutinize efforts by, itnesses to infer

mental weakness or- msa,mty Jfrom mere
physical decrepltude. It has. been said,

-however,  that! ‘weakness: of mte]lect suﬂ‘i—

¢ient to negative such capac1ty, may be trace-
able: to old age, disease and bodily infirm-
.Fo an aged person as well as to one
{inithe prime of life the usual tests as to
{estamentary capacity will be applied, as
for example, whether the testator knows
the amount of his property and the natural
objects of his bounty and understands what
he is doing. The law prescribes no limit
in point of age beyond which a person can-
not dlspose of his property by will. . On the
contrary it has been justly sa1d tha.t the
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will of an aged person should be regarded
with great tenderness, when it appears not
to have been procured by fraudulent means,
“but contains those very dispositions which
the circumstances of his situation and the
course of the natural affections dictated.”
And in Redfearn on Wills and Adminis-
tration in Florida, § 40, it is sajd:

“Eccentric habits and absurd beliefs do
not establish testamentary incapacity. A
person may be addicted to the strangest
peculiarities or he may be frantic in his
appearance or behavior and yet possess tes-
tamentary capacity. Old age, of itself,
does not deprive a person of testamentary
capacity. Regardless of how old a person
may become, he still retains his power to
make a will, so long as his mind is sufficient-
Iy sound for him to know and understand
at the time his will is executed what dis-
position he is making of the property.”

Fla.

From all the testimony, in the language of
Judge Petteway’s opinion, it seems to us
that “here was an old lady, somewhat child-
1sh, considerably forgetful, very reticent,
who merely wanted to retire into a -shell
and not even be burdened with talking to
others unless it was something especially
interesting to her, but with plenty of knowl-
edge of people and things in which she was
interested; who did not always answer
questions, but could do so intelligently.
She made a will and a natural disposition
of her property under the circumstances;
that she was mentally competent to make
the will at the time it was made, which is
the all decisive point of time, and that,
while she was of a type and age that might
have made her somewhat easily susceptible
to the practice of undue influence, there is
no such practice shown here, and hence that
the will executed by her on December
24th, 1924, should have been held fo be
valid and her last will and testament and
probated dccordingly.”

[12] The decree rendered by Judge Pet-
teway, being void for want of jurisdiction,
is reversed. See Wheeler v, Ridge County
Holding Co., 98 Fla. 999, 124 So. 457.

The order of the lower court entered by
Judge Taylor, holding that the will execut-
ed by Clara R. Starr is not a valid will, is
herehy reversed, with directions to enter an
order adjudicating said will to hiave been
validly and legally executed and to be the
last will and testament of Clara R. Starr,
deceased, and admitting same to probate.

Decree reversed.
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WHITFIELD, C. J., and D.
concur,

TERRELL and BUFQRD, J]J.,
the opinion and judgment.

PALM BEACH COUNTY et al. v.
FLORIDA CONSERVANCY [
et al.

Supreme Court of Floride
Nov. 13, 1936.

I. Dedlcat!on @ﬁ :

Purpose of statute providing
maintained by counties or state for
ghould be deemed to be dedlcatec
was to operate as statute of repos
gpect to rights of way of roads ¢
thereof that had been constructed
aimstances of irregularity In acqu
title to rights of way (Comp.Gen.I
§ 2452(1) et seq.).

2, Dedication &=41

Statute providing that roads 1
by counties or state for four years
deemed to be dedicated to public ¥
tended to divest public bodies, sucl
age districts, of any existing r
might have in .rights of way ant

-workg acquired and held for drain:

es In accordance with law. (Comp
Supp. § 2452(1) et seq.).

3. Dedication &=41 ‘
Statute providing that roads
by counties or state for four years
deemed to be dedicated to public
presumed to be intended to apply -
rights of way of drainage district
sponsibility of completing and n
project of reclamation in draina
is public trust and inescapable le;
officials vested with execution of 1
plan (Comp.Gen.Laws Supp. § 2452

4. Drains €245

Duty of drainage district to ez
of dralnage and reclamation by ra
held paramount to any right wh
might have aegulred to iay out an
county road over levee and use it
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